# S269212

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORIA

# CALIFORNIA MEDICAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

AETNA HEALTHCARE OF CALIFORNIA, INC. D/B/A AETNA U.S. HEALTHCARE INC.; AETNA HEALTH OF CALIFORNIA, INC.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No. B304217 (Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BC487412)

# PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Service on the Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.29

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The published Opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Eight, *California Medical Association v. Aetna Health of California, Inc.*, (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 660 ("Opinion"), attached hereto as Ex. 1, raises at least five issues supporting this Court granting review:

1. If a membership organization such as the California Medical Association suffers "injury in fact and a loss of money or property" in the diversion of organizational resources under the standing requirements of Article III of the U.S. Constitution, can that organization seek public injunctive relief as a "person" pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code Section 17203?

2. Do the standards for "organizational standing" differ from the standards for "associational standing" discussed in Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Superior Court, (2009) 46 Cal. 4th 993 ("Amalgamated Transit")?

3. Does the Opinion conflict with the holding in Animal Legal Defense Fund v. LT Napa Partners LLC, (2015) 234 Cal. App. 4th 1270, review denied June 10, 2015 ("ALDF"), that organizations demonstrating diversion of organizational resources have standing to seek public injunctive relief under the UCL, such that there is a split between two District Court of Appeal decisions on the issue of the organizational standing?

4. Is an action seeking solely "public injunctive relief" a "representative action" under Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code Section 17200 *et seq.* ("UCL") as defined by the California Supreme Court, such as in *McGill v. Citibank*, N.A., (2017) 2 Cal. 5th 945 ("*McGill*")?

5. Does the Opinion raise significant public interest concerns as it could thwart the efforts of nonprofit public interest groups throughout California to obtain public injunctive relief for the benefit of a wide variety of constituents?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Opinion raises two primary issues that need to be reviewed and corrected by this Court. First, there are two different potentially applicable standing standards for groups such as CMA: (1) organizational standing, and (2) associational standing. The Court of Appeal's Opinion here fails to distinguish between these two independent standards. Instead, the Opinion blurs the distinction between associational and organizational standing by creating an unprecedented, artificial and unclear distinction between membership associations pursuing direct member interests and associations (that may or may not have members) pursuing more abstract indirect member interests. This distinction has no support in the jurisprudence of Article III standing principles, or the purposes that animated the amendment of the UCL pursuant to Proposition 64 to require Article III standing for persons asserting claims under the UCL.

Second, the Opinion rests its conclusion in part on the forced assumption that CMA could only be viewed as bringing a

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

"representative action" for purposes of standing analysis simply because CMA's goals in this litigation could benefit its members. However, the injunctive relief requested by CMA would also benefit non-members of CMA as well as serve CMA's broader mission to protect the art and science of medicine for the benefit of patients and the public health (a point the Court also appeared to ignore), and CMA is not seeking any form of monetary relief. CMA is therefore not bringing a "representative action" as that term has been used by this Court, and there was no evidence to the contrary, which this Court has stated is relevant in determining whether C.C.P. Section 382 applies. Yet the Opinion forces a standing analysis for representative actions on CMA (which are categorically barred under Prop 64) and, if left to stand, would spell the end of the ability of organizations that have members to seek public injunctive relief under the UCL.

Based on the potentially wide-ranging impact of the reasoning and conclusion of the Opinion, and to ensure uniformity of decisions on these critical threshold issues, the Court should grant this Petition.

3

Plaintiff/Appellant California Medical Association ("Appellant" or "CMA") is a 165-year-old organization established to advance the art and science of medicine for the benefit of physicians, patients, and the public health. Appellant joined a lawsuit in July 2012 against Defendants/Appellees Aetna Healthcare of California, Inc. d/b/a/ Aetna U.S. Healthcare Inc., and Aetna Health of California, Inc. (collectively "Appellees" or "Aetna"). Appellant alleges Aetna sells health insurance plans to individuals in California by representing they may obtain their healthcare from physicians of their choice through Aetna Preferred Provider Organization ("PPO") and Point of Service ("POS") plans. These PPO and POS plans typically differentiate between coverage for medical treatment provided by in-network ("INET") providers, who negotiate discounted rates with companies such as Aetna, and out-of-network ("ONET") providers. Joint Appendix of Record ("JA"), 4, 9, 373, 958.

Under both the terms of Aetna's standard provider agreements with INET physicians and California law, an INET physician may recommend to an Aetna member with PPO or POS benefits that he or she may elect to have their surgeries or other

4

services performed at ONET ambulatory surgery centers ("ASCs") if it is "consistent with sound medical judgment" of the physician to do so. JA, at 218-19, 255, 383, 388, 412, 422. Physicians obtain patient consent prior to referring members with ONET benefits to ONET providers and ASCs. *Id.* at 206-08, 253, 375-76, 420, 465, 483, 659, 741.

However, under Aetna's "Non-Par Intervention Policy" ("NIP"), which was implemented in 2008 and revised in 2011, Aetna attempted to illegally restrict or eliminate such ONET referrals. Aetna began sending a series of letters threatening INET physicians with termination and/or actually terminating them from being in Aetna's physician network for utilizing and/or referring patients to ONET providers or ASCs, even based on just a few ONET referrals. JA at 4, 7, 11-14, 48-51, 118-132, 205-208, 214-17, 223-225, 393-95, 1182-88. Appellees also threatened patients who had already elected to use their ONET benefits, sending them letters trying to convince them to change their election. JA at 38, 163, 224-26, 376, 394-96. As a result, the NIP did not simply adversely impact CMA members, as claimed at \*5 of the Opinion. As CMA's corporate representative Jodi Black stated in her deposition, stopping implementation of the NIP

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

would also benefit CMA non-members, future providers and patients who were effectively prevented from using the ONET benefits they paid for and who received threatening letters from Aetna regarding their choice to do so. JA at 1145-64.

Years prior to joining the litigation, CMA undertook significant efforts to combat the impacts of the NIP, interacting with Aetna independent of litigation. Aetna ignored those efforts. When these efforts failed CMA, along with several other county medical associations and physicians, challenged the NIP as violating the UCL. They alleged how Aetna's implementation of the NIP violated both standard health care insurer practices, several provisions in Aetna's form provider agreements and various California laws that prohibit Appellees from interfering with physicians' exercise of their medical professional judgment regarding the health care services provided to their patients. In doing so, Aetna illegally interfered with both INET physicians' exercise of sound medical judgment and their patients' informed consent. JA at 376-400, 1086, 1090-94, 1160-1162, 1182-88.

After years of litigation, by agreement of the parties this lawsuit was to proceed to trial only on CMA's claims under the UCL. In exchange, Aetna would dismiss its retaliatory claims filed

6

against the two physicians that similarly sought to stop implementation of the NIP and were sued by Aetna for doing so. Demonstrating CMA was proceeding in its own right and not solely derivatively through the claims of its members by assignment or otherwise, CMA agreed it would only seek injunctive relief that would benefit the public, and no monetary relief. JA at 545-569. In the Stipulation of Dismissal reflecting the parties' agreement (JA 564-65 and 571), CMA stated it was intending to pursue "its claim for injunctive relief" under the UCL and not claims for restitution, and that CMA was not dismissing its individual claims against Aetna to obtain injunctive relief under the UCL (JA 558).

On August 6, 2019, the parties filed and thereafter fully briefed cross-motions for summary judgment or summary adjudication of issues as to the merits of the action. JA at 590-1430. CMA presented significant evidence of the direct "injury in fact and a loss of money or property" it suffered based on the Declaration of Mr. Francisco Silva, the General Counsel and Senior Vice President of CMA, summarizing the results of CMA's investigations and expenditures of resources (JA 957-60); Ms. Black's deposition testimony (JA 1145-66)and CMA's interrogatory responses (JA 1361-1420) providing similar

7

information; the Termination Resource Guide prepared by CMA (JA 1164); and CMA's eight-page letter to the California Department of Insurance and the California Department of Managed Health Care (JA 1182-88) advising them of the results of CMA's investigation and requesting they "investigate and take appropriate action to ensure that Aetna complies with California law". Aetna did not file any objections as to the admissibility of CMA's evidence on the standing issue and asserted in response to CMA's Statement of Undisputed Facts that numerous material facts as to CMA's standing were "disputed". JA at 1314-16.

After two separate hearings (*see* Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings ("RT") at 1, 31), on November 25, 2019, the trial court granted Aetna's Motion for Summary Judgment. It did so solely on the grounds that, after seven years of litigation and based on this Court's ruling in *Amalgamated Transit*, CMA had no standing as a matter of law to seek public injunctive relief under the UCL – despite the evidence presented by CMA as to its diversion or organizational resources independently of litigation to combat the effects of the NIP. The trial court refused to rule whether CMA could establish it met the UCL's "injury in fact and loss of money or property" standing requirement by showing it had expended and diverted organizational resources, independent of litigation, in attempting to counteract the impact of the NIP. Nor did the trial court address the sufficiency of the evidence submitted by CMA or Aetna's response thereto as to CMA's standing based on its diversion of organizational resources. Nor did the Court decide whether CMA had presented material facts showing it had suffered the requisite injury for organizations to seek relief, recognized for years in case law. When Appellant pointed out such a ruling would irreconcilably conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in *ALDF*, the trial court opined that ruling could not be reconciled with *Amalgamated Transit*. RT at 44; JA at 1542-43.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court. Making the same error as the trial court, the Court ignored the unchallenged evidence in the record that CMA had suffered injury in fact, instead asserting that *Amalgamated Transit* controlled the outcome of this appeal – even though another Court of Appeal in *ALDF* had reached the exact opposite conclusion based on similar evidence. The Opinion held that because CMA was bringing claims as an association and because (contrary to the record evidence) it was bringing a "representative action" only on behalf of its members, it could never assert claims that would benefit its members - even if such relief would also benefit CMA non-members and further its mission to protect the art and science of medicine, Aetna patients and the public. Opinion at \*5. The Court summarized its reasoning in the Opinion as follows:

This brings us to the question whether CMA produced evidence of direct economic injury to CMA itself. CMA argues we should rely upon Animal Legal Defense Fund v. LT Napa Partners LLC (2015) 234 Cal.App. 4th 1270 (ALDF) to find diversion of its resources is a sufficient injury to confer standing under the UCL. In its analysis, the ALDF court discussed Kwikset at length, concluding the plaintiff in ALDF spent resources it would not have spent but for defendants' illegal conduct. (ALDF, at pp. 1283-1284.)

Plaintiff in ALDF was an organization that advocated for a ban on the sale of foie gras and engaged in a campaign to inform legislators and the public that producing foie gras involves animal cruelty because birds are forcibly overfed. The plaintiff sued to enjoin defendants under the UCL for selling foie gras in their restaurant in violation of the ban on its sale. (ALDF, supra, 234 Cal.App. 4th at p. 1275.) Defendants filed a special motion to strike under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, arguing the lawsuit arose from protected activity, and that the plaintiff could to demonstrate a probability of prevailing on the merits because it lacked standing under the UCL. (ALDF, at p. 1278.)

To show it had standing, the plaintiff produced evidence that it diverted significant organizational resources to combat the defendants' continuing illegal sales of foie gras. The plaintiff had lobbied in support of the ban and after it became law. The plaintiff paid a private investigator to dine at the restaurant where he was served foie gras three times after the ban became law. The plaintiff spent significant staff time and resources over the course of three months to share its investigation findings with local law enforcement authorities and try to persuade them to enforce the ban. The plaintiff itself was harmed by having to spend money that would have been unnecessary to spend if the defendants had not violated the ban (ALDF, supra, 234 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1279-1282; id. at p. 1282 ["Plaintiff, thus, has presented evidence of a genuine and long-standing interest in the effective enforcement of the [statutory ban on foie gras] an in exposing those who violate it. Plaintiff's evidence provides a basis to conclude that defendants' alleged violations of the statute tended to frustrate plaintiff's advocacy for an effective ban on the sale of foie gras in California, and tended to impede plaintiff's ability to shift its focus on advocacy efforts in, for example, other states and at the federal level."].)

CMA says the declaration of Mr. Silva and other evidence it produced show the same type of injury that ALDF held was sufficient to show a likelihood of success in proving the plaintiff had standing under the UCL, and Aetna did not object to any of CMA's evidence.

We find ALDF is distinguishable and does not apply here. The key factual and procedural distinction is the plaintiff in ALDF did not bring a representative action, as CMA did in this case. ALDF was not advocating on behalf of or providing services to help its members deal with their loss of money or property. The ALDF opinion does not even say whether ALDF had members or who they might be. (ALDF, supra, 234 Cal.App. 4th at pp. 1279-1280.) We can guess if ALDF has members, they support ALDF's mission to prevent animal cruelty. The mission and very purpose for being of the plaintiff in ALDF-to prevent animal cruelty-were directly injured by the defendants' violation of the ban on sales of foie gras. (Id. At pp. 1282-1283.)

Unlike the facts in ALDF, the evidence here was that CMA was founded to advocate on behalf of its physician members. The staff time spent here in response to Aetna's termination and threats to terminate physicians was typical of the support CMA provides its members in furtherance of CMA's mission. If we were to apply ALDF to this case, then any organization acting consistently with its mission to help its members through legislative, legal and regulatory advocacy could claim standing based on its efforts to address its members' injuries. The 2004 amendments to the UCL eliminated such representational standing. (Amalgamated Transit, supra., 46 Cal.4th at p. 1005.)

We now turn to the key legal distinction between ALDF and this case. The court in ALDF did not distinguish Amalgamated Transit or explain how its decision was either consistent with, or created an exception to, or extended the rationale and holding of Amalgamated Transit, which, like this case, was a representative action seeking to rectify injury to its The likely reason for this is aggrieved members. because ALDF did not bring a representative action on behalf of aggrieved members like the union in Amalgamated Transit, or CMA in this case. Unlike the union in Amalgamated Transit, CMA does not acknowledge that only its members, and not CMA itself, suffered actual injury, but we have rejected CMA's position. Just like the union in Amalgamated Transit, CMA brought this representative action to rectify injury to its aggrieved physician members. Like the trial court below, we see no way to square the opinion in ALDF with the on-point Supreme Court Decision in Amalgamated Transit.

CMA also relies on McGill v. Citibank, N.A. (2017) 2Cal.5th 945, which held a private person or association may seek injunctive relief for the benefit of the general public, so long as the plaintiff has standing. (Id. At p. 259 ["We conclude that these provisions do not preclude a private individual who has 'suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a result of a violation of the UCL or the false advertising law (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17204, 17535) – and who therefore has standing to file a private action – from requesting public injunctive relief in connection with that action."].) Assuming without deciding CMA seeks to benefit the general public, and not just its members, McGill is of no use to CMA because it did not suffer injury in fact or lose money or property as a result of the UCL violations it alleges here.

As explained at the outset, it is unnecessary to address and discuss the other California cases CMA cites (e.g., Raven's Cove Townhomes. Inc. Knuppe v. Development Co., supra, 114 Cal.App.3d at pp. 793-796, and cases cited thereon), holding an association may maintain a representative, nonclass action on behalf of its members, because none of those cases involved claims under the UCL or another statute that expressly limited the right to sue those persons who suffered direct injury in fact and lost money or property.

Opinion at \*4-\*5 (emphasis added).

For the reasons stated below, this Court should review the Opinion to secure uniformity of decisions between it and *ALDF*, and to settle important questions of law and address issues of significant public interest. (Cal. Rules of Court 8.500(b).)

#### DISCUSSION

## I. The Opinion Ignores the Precedents of Both This Court and the United States Supreme Court By Effectively Eliminating "Organizational Standing" To Bring UCL Claims.

CMA is asserting organizational standing in its own right to seek injunctive relief under the UCL against Aetna. To be sure, the undisputed evidence showed that CMA diverted resources and expended staff time and resources independent of litigation to address Aetna's UCL violations. While such efforts were in part driven to protect CMA members, they also were required to meet CMA's mission to advance the practice of medicine as a profession, which includes preserving physician independence and medical judgment free from profit-motives. Notwithstanding these facts, the Opinion found CMA had no standing to assert a UCL claim for injunctive relief. The Opinion reaches this result by collapsing the independent constitutional concept of "organizational standing" into "associational standing", thereby creating a new, high bar that is virtually impossible for organizations like CMA to meet in order to seek redress in the courts for direct harm to themselves.

No court has ever suggested that membership associations can never bring a UCL claim as "persons" with standing under the

14

UCL. Yet that appears to be what the Opinion concludes. The Opinion thus is in conflict with decisions from this Court. Justice Werdegar's unanimous opinion in *Californians for Disability Rights v. Mervyn's LLC*, (2006) 39 Cal. 4th 223, n.4, notes this Court's position that associations have standing as "persons" to seek relief under the UCL so long as they meet the standing requirements applicable to them. And as Justice Werdegar noted in her concurrence in *Amalgamated Transit*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1005, the Court in that case was *not* holding that an organization that *has* suffered injury in fact and suffered loss of money or property may not represent its members in a UCL action, or that associations cannot bring such claims.

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