# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

# CALIFORNIA MEDICAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

AETNA HEALTHCARE OF CALIFORNIA, INC. D/B/A AETNA U.S. HEALTHCARE INC. and AETNA HEALTH OF CALIFORNIA, INC., Supreme Court Case No. S269212

Defendants-Respondents.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Case No. B304217

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2004, Proposition 64 amended California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") to limit standing to those who "lost money or property," Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204, as a result of a defendant's conduct. In 2011, this Court interpreted that amendment "to eliminate standing for those who have not engaged in any business dealings with would-be defendants." *Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court*, 51 Cal. 4th 310, 317 (2011). Plaintiff-Appellant California Medical Association ("CMA") admits it did not have any "business dealings" with Aetna.

Instead, CMA argues that some of its physician-members in-network physicians who routinely used out-of-network facilities to increase their personal profits at the expense of patients and health plans—were subject to the Aetna Policy that CMA challenges in this case. CMA argues that by choosing to help those physician-members in their private, contractual disputes about Aetna's Policy, CMA created a loss of "money or property" for itself that gives it standing under the UCL.

As the Court of Appeal and the trial court both held, this Court's precedent forecloses CMA's theory. An organization "that has not suffered actual injury under the unfair competition law" may not sue "as an association whose members have suffered actual injury." *Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756 v. Superior Court,* 46 Cal. 4th 993, 998 (2009). As the Court of Appeal recognized, this bar against representational standing would be meaningless if helping members respond to a policy

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

conferred standing on the membership organization to challenge the policy.

The Court of Appeal's decision is an unremarkable application of settled law, and CMA does not identify any persuasive reason for this Court to review it. CMA articulates five purported issues for review, Pet'n 1–2, but they all collapse on the same fundamental request that this Court create "different," id. at 15, 20, and broader standing rules for membership organizations than the rules that apply to all other UCL plaintiffs. The Court of Appeal's rejection of CMA's request was consistent with existing California law. Review therefore is not needed to "secure uniformity of decision." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). Nor does CMA's requested exemption from normal UCL standing rules present "an important question of law." Id. Membership organizations already can establish UCL standing (and routinely do) under the same rules that apply to all other UCL plaintiffs. Regardless, this case would be an improper vehicle for the Court to consider CMA's requested exemption because even under CMA's preferred rule, it would still lack standing: CMA did not substantiate that it actually expended any "money or property" to help its members respond to Aetna's policy.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background<sup>1</sup>

Since 1982, California law has explicitly sanctioned the use of Preferred Provider Organization ("PPO") health plans. See Lori Rubinstein Physical Therapy, Inc. v. PTPN, Inc., 148 Cal. App. 4th 1130, 1133 (2d Dist. 2007). Health insurers like Aetna maintain their PPO networks by "contract[ing] with hospitals and providers of medical services for alternative rates of payment for those services, thus permitting insurers to create panels of 'preferred providers' for the insurer's subscribers." Id. Aetna thereby "provides health insurance to its subscribers through a network of physicians who are contracted to provide services for discounted rates." Court of Appeal Opinion ("Op.") 2.<sup>2</sup> At all times, "[s]ubscribers may receive services from these in-network physicians, or from out-of-network physicians at a higher share of the cost." Op. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CMA's factual discussion is completely untethered to the facts as stated in the Court of Appeal's decision. This is contrary to California Rule of Court 8.500(c)(2), which declares that "the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing." CMA did not file a petition for rehearing, so its attempts to dispute the Court of Appeal's factual recitation are improper. Although Aetna vigorously disagrees with CMA's characterization of the relevant factual background, it limits its factual summary here to the facts the Court of Appeal found were relevant to the standing issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All citations to the Court of Appeal opinion are to the pages of the opinion as issued by the Court, rather than the version that was published at 63 Cal. App. 5th 660.

As a condition of entering Aetna's PPO network, health care providers must sign a contract with Aetna setting forth each party's rights and obligations. Op. 4. Although the form of that contract changed over time, it consistently has required physicians to use in-network facilities for procedures they perform, whenever possible consistent with their sound medical judgment. Op. 4. To ensure that in-network physicians were complying with this obligation—and that patients with Aetna PPO plans were not being subjected to surprise bills for out-ofnetwork rates—"Aetna implemented a policy to restrict or eliminate" improper out-of-network referrals. Op. 2. To do this, the Policy established a multi-step process for communicating with physicians. During this process, Aetna sent letters to physicians who used out-of-network facilities reminding them that this "may be considered non-compliance with your physician agreement in which you agree to use contracted, participating network facilities." Op. 4.<sup>3</sup>

### B. Procedural Background

The underlying litigation began as a putative class action filed by an in-network physician, and broadened to include additional plaintiffs, including CMA. Op. 3. "No motion for class

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The details of each step under the Policy are not relevant to the standing issues on appeal. In brief, they included multiple informational letters from Aetna to physicians, telephone and other communications, requests for information regarding why the physician used out-of-network facilities, attempts by Aetna to resolve any gaps in its network, and a multi-step reconsideration and appeal process for physicians found to have repeatedly engaged in abusive and unjustified out-of-network referrals.

certification was ever filed," and the case ultimately narrowed in 2019 to a single plaintiff, CMA, and a single claim "for injunctive relief under the UCL." Op. 3. CMA based its allegations of standing on the fact that it is an "organization that represents over 37,000 physicians throughout the state of California," and took action to "support[] its members" against Aetna. Op. 4.

Discovery made clear that Aetna's Policy "did not apply to CMA, which had no contract with Aetna" and that "CMA primarily claimed injury to its physician members for loss of patients and revenue." Op. 5. In addition, CMA was unable to identify or quantify any money the organization spent as a result of the Policy, R.A. 214–15, 223, 228–29, 236, 466–67, 478–79; J.A. 1386–89, 1423–24, and admitted that any "resources" it expended to support its members were in the form of time spent by salaried employees who would have received the same salaries regardless of the work they did, R.A. 213, 224–27, 236, 465–66.<sup>4</sup> Accordingly, Aetna moved for summary judgment and summary adjudication arguing, among other things, that CMA lacked standing under the UCL. Op. 5.

On November 25, 2019, the Superior Court granted Aetna's motion on its first argument—that CMA lacked standing because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal had no occasion to consider the facts regarding CMA's alleged expenditure the time of its salaried staff because it agreed with the trial court that CMA's legal theory of standing was defective. Aetna provides the relevant factual background from the record that was before the Court of Appeal because it illustrates why, even if this Petition presented a viable issue for this Court's review, this case is a uniquely poor vehicle for deciding that legal issue.

it "had not shown direct injury or loss of money or property." Op. 6. CMA appealed and, on April 28, 2021, the Court of Appeal affirmed on that same ground. Op. 3. The Court of Appeal reached this conclusion by applying two of this Court's precedents. *First*, under *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th 310, "to have standing to bring a claim under the UCL after the 2004 amendments, a plaintiff must be able to show he personally sustained economic harm and that he lost money or property caused by the defendant's misconduct." Op. 8. Second, under Amalgamated Transit, 46 Cal. 4th at 993, an organization like CMA must "produce evidence that CMA itself, and not just its members, lost money or property in order to have standing to sue under the UCL." Op. 9. Based on those settled principles, the Court held that CMA's theory that it had lost money or property by "diverting resources" to help its members in their contractual disputes with Aetna could not establish the requisite economic injury to CMA. See Op. 9–12.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court "may order review of a Court of Appeal decision" under four circumstances, three of which CMA does not contend exist here. *See* Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b). CMA claims only that review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). But the Court of Appeal's decision is entirely consistent with existing law regarding standing under the UCL, and, in any event, a routine application of this Court's standing precedents is not "important" enough to warrant review.

### I. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS FULLY CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT'S PRECEDENTS.

Under the 2004 amendment to the UCL, CMA must demonstrate that it "lost money or property as a result of the unfair competition." Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204. CMA asks this Court to create an exemption from this requirement for membership organizations that choose to support their members in private, contractual disputes. *See* Pet'n 15 (arguing for rule that would allow membership organizations to show standing "in a different way"); *id.* at 20 (arguing for "different standards" for membership organizations). The Court of Appeal rejected CMA's argument as foreclosed by this Court's decisions on standing under the UCL, *Amalgamated Transit*, 46 Cal. 4th 993, and *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th 310. CMA tries to muddy the waters with citations to various state and federal decisions, none of which conflicts with the Court of Appeal's decision (and many of which are completely irrelevant, as the Court of Appeal already held).

1. The Court of Appeal followed a two-part analysis to reject CMA's attempt to exempt itself from the normal rules for establishing standing under the UCL. First, it held that "an association such as CMA" must "produce evidence that CMA itself, and not just its members, lost money or property in order to have standing to sue under the UCL." Op. 9. Far from a deviation from California law, that is what this Court said about a labor-union plaintiff in *Amalgamated Transit*: An organization "that has not suffered actual injury under the unfair competition law" may not sue "as an association whose members have suffered actual injury." 46 Cal. 4th at 998. Indeed, the 2004

amendment to the UCL was intended "to eliminate standing for those," like CMA, "who have not engaged in any business dealings with would-be defendants." *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th at 317. In other words, the UCL's requirement that a plaintiff "demonstrate some form of economic injury," *id.* at 323, "would be nullified if a person claiming actual injury from some unfair business practice were allowed to assign that claim to one who has suffered no injury" by relying on a representational theory of standing, *Amalgamated Transit*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1002.

In the second part of its analysis, the Court of Appeal held that membership organizations, like CMA, are not exempt from these rules. See Op. 9–14. CMA argued that it need not show a personal loss of money or property as a result of Aetna's policy because CMA suffered a "diversion of its resources" when it chose to "advocat[e] on behalf of or provid[e] services to help its members deal with their loss of money or property." Op. 11. But the Court of Appeal saw that claim for what it is: An effort to create a special UCL standing rule for membership organizations, that would permit "any" membership organization to "claim standing based on its efforts to address its members' injuries." Op. 11. As both the Court of Appeal and the trial court recognized, this cannot be "square[d]" with this Court's decision in Amalgamated Transit, in which this Court held that a labor union could not establish standing based on having tried "to rectify injury to its aggrieved members," Op. 12, because "[t]he 2004 amendments to the UCL eliminated such representational standing," Op. 11 (citing Amalgamated Transit, 46 Cal. 4th at

1005).

2. The Court of Appeal's holding does not conflict with any other California authority. Much of CMA's argument to the contrary relies on a single decision, Animal Legal Def. Fund v. LT Napa Partners LLC ("ALDF"), 234 Cal. App. 4th 1270 (1st Dist. 2015), which the Court of Appeal distinguished at length. Op. 9– 12. Unlike this case, *ALDF* did not concern a membership organization attempting to create an economic injury for itself by advocating for the interests of its members. As the Court of Appeal stressed, ALDF (1) did not involve a plaintiff "advocating on behalf of or providing services to help its members deal with their loss of money or property," and (2) "did not distinguish" or otherwise mention Amalgamated Transit, "likely ... because ALDF did not bring a representative action on behalf of aggrieved members like the union in Amalgamated Transit, or CMA in this case." Op. 11. Accordingly, there is no conflict between ALDF's recognition of standing for those who *personally* "hav[e] to spend money" in order "to combat" a challenged practice, and the Court of Appeal's finding here that those who *choose* to expend "resources" to support their members in private contractual disputes do not have standing.

Next, CMA wrongly asserts that two prior Court of Appeal decisions came to the same conclusion as *ALDF*. *See* Pet'n 23. *Hunt v. Time, Inc.*, 158 Cal. App. 4th 847, 855 (4th Dist. 2008), merely rejected a Plaintiff's claim of standing because he "did not allege he suffered an injury in fact under any of" the "definitions" that California courts had given to the term in the four years

since the 2004 amendments had been in existence. *Buckland v. Threshold Enterps.*, 155 Cal. App. 4th 798, 814–16 (2d Dist. 2007), rejected an individual's argument that he could establish "economic injury" by choosing to spend money in preparing to litigate a UCL claim against the defendant. Neither case concerned a membership organization, much less one trying to create "economic injury" by choosing to support its members in their private contractual disputes.

Similarly, CMA is wrong to suggest (Pet'n 28–32) that the availability of "public injunctive relief" under this Court's decision in *McGill v. Citibank, N.A.*, 2 Cal. 5th 945 (2017), somehow creates standing for membership organizations that did not personally suffer a loss of money or property. *McGill* stated the same rule applied by the Court of Appeal: A UCL plaintiff "has standing" if it "suffered injury in fact and . . . lost money or property." *Id.* at 959. That is why the Court of Appeal held that even "[a]ssuming without deciding CMA seeks to benefit the general public, and not just its members, *McGill* is of no use to CMA because it did not suffer injury in fact or lose money or property as a result of the UCL violations it alleges here." Op. 12.

Nor does any conflict arise from the authority CMA cites regarding class actions under Code of Civil Procedure § 382. See Pet'n 15, 25 (citing *Californians for Disability Rights v. Mervyn's LLC*, 39 Cal. 4th 223, 232 n.4 (2006) and *Raven's Cove Townhomes, Inc. v. Knuppe Dev. Co.*, 114 Cal. App. 3d 783 (1st Dist. 1981)). That authority could not have survived

Amalgamated Transit (from 2009) and Kwikset (from 2011) if it even conflicted with those cases. More fundamentally, it is irrelevant because this case is not a class action. See Op. 3 ("No motion for class certification was ever filed."). In addition, as the Court of Appeal held about Raven's Cove, that case did not "involve[] claims under the UCL or another statute that expressly limited the right to sue to those persons who suffered direct injury in fact and lost money or property." Op. 12.

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